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1. The address for Plaintiffs Delaware Riverkeeper and Delaware Riverkeeper Network is 

925 Canal Street, Suite 3701, Bristol, PA 19007.  The address for Defendants United 

States Environmental Protection Agency and Lisa P. Jackson is 1200 Pennsylvania 

Avenue NW, Washington, D.C. 20530-0001. The address for Defendant Judith A. Enck 

is 290 Broadway, New York, NY 10007-1866. 

 

 



I. INTRODUCTION 

2. The Clean Water Act provides EPA the authority to regulate the discharge of pollutants, 

including municipal stormwater discharges. EPA may delegate this authority to a State, 

as it has to New Jersey. However, EPA retains oversight authority and the duty to ensure 

that the State is exercising its delegated responsibilities in compliance with the standards 

set by federal law. Whenever EPA becomes aware of a State‟s widespread failure to 

fulfill its delegated regulatory responsibilities, EPA is required to make a finding to that 

effect and institute a process whereby proper regulation is restored.  Although 

municipalities throughout the state have been documented approving development 

proposals that are not compliant with stormwater management rules, the State of New 

Jersey has failed to take action to remedy this widespread pattern of non-compliance.  

This suit seeks to compel EPA to undertake its mandatory statutory duty to investigate 

the State of New Jersey‟s stormwater management program and to make the findings and 

take the actions necessary to improve the management and regulation of New Jersey 

municipal stormwater runoff. 

3. This action is a citizen suit brought under Section 505(a)(2) of the Clean Water Act 

(“CWA”), as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(2).  Plaintiffs Delaware Riverkeeper and 

Delaware Riverkeeper Network seek a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, and the 

award of costs, including attorneys‟ and expert witness fees, for the repeated and ongoing 

violations of Sections 309(a)(2) and 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 

1342(p), by Defendants. 

 

 



II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Section 505(a) of the CWA, 33 

U.S.C. § 1365(a), which grants the federal district courts jurisdiction over CWA citizen 

enforcement actions, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which grants the federal district courts 

original jurisdiction over civil actions arising under federal law. The relief requested 

herein is authorized by 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 1365(a)(2). 

5. Pursuant to Section 505(b)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(2), Plaintiffs notified 

EPA of the violations of the CWA and of Plaintiffs‟ intent to sue under the CWA by 

letter dated December 14, 2010 (“Notice Letter”).  A copy of the Notice Letter is attached 

to this complaint as “Exhibit 1.”  Plaintiffs notified the EPA, the Administrator of the 

EPA, and the Administrator of EPA Region 2 of their intent to sue Defendants by mailing 

copies of the Notice Letter to these parties by certified mail on December 14, 2010. 

6. More than sixty days have passed since the notice was served. The violations complained 

of in the Notice Letter are continuing or are reasonably likely to continue to occur.  

Defendants are in violation of the CWA‟s statutory requirements and implementing 

regulations governing stormwater management. Neither EPA, the Administrator of the 

EPA, nor the Administrator of EPA Region 2, has commenced any action to redress these 

violations. 

7. The violations complained of are located in various municipalities throughout the State of 

New Jersey, within the District of New Jersey, and venue is therefore appropriate in the 

District of New Jersey pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(2). 

 

 



III.  PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff Delaware Riverkeeper Network (“DRN”) is a non-profit organization 

established in 1988 to protect and restore the Delaware River and its associated 

watershed, tributaries, and habitats. To achieve these goals, DRN organizes and 

implements streambank restorations, a volunteer monitoring program, educational 

programs, environmental advocacy initiatives, recreational activities, and environmental 

law enforcement efforts throughout the entire Delaware River Watershed – an area that 

includes portions of New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Delaware. The DRN is a 

membership organization with more than 8,000 members throughout the Delaware River 

Watershed and beyond. DRN brings this lawsuit on behalf of its members. 

9. Plaintiff the Delaware Riverkeeper is a full-time privately funded ombudsman who is 

responsible for the protection of the waterways in the Delaware River Watershed. The 

Delaware Riverkeeper, Maya van Rossum, advocates for the protection and restoration of 

the ecological, recreational, commercial and aesthetic qualities of the Delaware River and 

its associated watershed, tributaries, and habitats. 

10. DRN staff and volunteers work throughout the entire Delaware River Watershed 

including portions of Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware and New York. The Delaware 

River flows for 330 miles from New York through Pennsylvania, New Jersey and 

Delaware on its way to the Atlantic Ocean. The river is fed by 216 tributaries, and about 

23.3% of the Delaware basin lies in New Jersey. Though the watershed drains only four-

tenths of one percent of the total continental U.S. land area, more than 15 million people 

(about 5 percent of the nation's population) rely on the Delaware River Watershed for 

their drinking water, including as much as a quarter of New Jersey‟s population. 



Stormwater from Hamilton Township (Mercer County) flows into tributaries of the 

Delaware River. 

11. The Delaware Riverkeeper and DRN members live within the Delaware River Watershed 

and frequently use and enjoy the New Jersey shores of the Delaware River and its 

tributaries for professional, commercial, educational, and recreational activities and 

aesthetic enjoyment.  

12. Approximately 2500 members of DRN live and work in New Jersey and many DRN 

members also own or reside in properties affected by stormwater runoff in New Jersey. 

The Delaware Riverkeeper and DRN members intend to continue their professional, 

commercial, educational and recreational activities within the Delaware River Watershed, 

including its tributaries, into the foreseeable future. 

13. The Delaware Riverkeeper, DRN and DRN‟s members have a strong interest in ensuring 

that the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (“DEP”), and subsequently 

EPA, follow applicable statutory and regulatory requirements to adequately manage 

municipal stormwater discharge and to prevent further harm to the Delaware River‟s 

waters and watershed from stormwater runoff.  New Jersey‟s compliance with federal 

statutes and regulations governing the management of stormwater is key to watershed 

protection and the health of our streams and waterways, to which the Delaware 

Riverkeeper and DRN are dedicated. 

14. DRN has a long history of leadership in stormwater management issues. Some of these 

leadership roles include: playing an active role in the creation of the New Jersey‟s current 

stormwater regulations; engaging in litigation against other organizations that attempted 

to overturn these regulations; publishing guides and reports on stormwater and 



stormwater management; producing a series of educational stormwater seminars; and 

presenting testimony at hearings and papers at conferences outlining the importance of 

sound stormwater management practices.  

15. The Delaware Riverkeeper and DRN‟s goals are thwarted by the DEP‟s, and 

subsequently EPA‟s, inadequate regulation of New Jersey municipal stormwater 

discharges in that, inter alia, inadequately regulated municipal stormwater discharge 

harms the ecological, recreational, commercial and aesthetic qualities of the Delaware 

River, its tributaries and habitats.  Moreover, DEP and EPA‟s inadequate enforcement of 

municipal stormwater discharge deprives the DRN‟s members of their ability to fully 

enjoy the ecological, recreational, commercial and aesthetic qualities of the Delaware 

River, its tributaries and habitats. As a result, DRN members have and continue to be 

harmed by the increased pollution and stormwater runoff that increase flooding and 

waterway pollution thereby affecting DRN‟s use and enjoyment of the affected 

waterways 

16. Furthermore, DEP and EPA„s failure to adequately regulate municipal stormwater 

discharge has impaired Plaintiffs‟ ability to evaluate the effectiveness of the current 

stormwater regulations and has thereby inhibited Plaintiffs‟ abilities to educate DRN‟s 

members and the public on the state of stormwater management and has hampered 

Plaintiffs from effectively engaging in advocacy, education, and environmental law 

enforcement efforts.  

17. The interests of the Delaware Riverkeeper, DRN and its members have been, are being 

and unless the relief requested is granted, will continue to be, adversely affected by 

EPA‟s failure to comply with the CWA. This injury in fact is fairly traceable to EPA‟s 



lack of adequate oversight of DEP‟s implementation of its delegated CWA 

responsibilities and would be redressed by the relief that the Delaware Riverkeeper and 

DRN seek in this case.  

18. Defendant EPA is a federal agency charged with administration and enforcement of many 

federal environmental laws, including the CWA.  EPA‟s principal place of business and 

its headquarters are in Washington, D.C. 

19. Defendant Lisa P. Jackson (“Jackson”) is sued herein in her official capacity as the 

current Administrator of EPA, who has ultimate authority and responsibility for the acts 

of EPA. Her principal place of business is at EPA‟s headquarters in Washington, D.C. 

20. Defendant Judith A. Enck (“Enck”) is sued herein in her official capacity as the current 

Regional Administrator of EPA, who has ultimate authority and responsibility for the acts 

of EPA, Region 2. Her principal place of business is at EPA‟s Region 2 Office in New 

York, NY. Region 2 is the EPA regional office responsible for oversight of New Jersey‟s 

delegated responsibilities under the Clean Water Act. 

IV. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND  

21. Stormwater is a major source of water pollution in the United States. In an undeveloped, 

undisturbed natural vegetated landscape, most rainfall either evaporates back into the 

atmosphere or is absorbed into the ground where it is used by trees and plants or stored in 

the ground itself or an underground aquifer.  A much smaller portion will flow over the 

land as runoff and eventually follow a path to a local stream or waterbody. 

22. By contrast, in a developed environment, where vegetation has been removed and where 

many impervious surfaces such as roads, rooftops, parking lots, and compacted soils have 

come to dominate the landscape, rainfall is not readily absorbed into the ground, and 



stormwater becomes an issue of environmental, economic, and human safety 

significance.  

23. Stormwater from impervious surfaces picks up a toxic burden of pollutants such as road 

salt, motor oil, and pesticides, nutrients such as fertilizer, and sediments on its way to 

downstream water bodies. Frequently, this polluted stormwater will flow into municipal 

stormwater systems from where it is ultimately discharged into rivers and streams.    

24. The downstream impacts of stormwater runoff are significant in both environmental and 

economic terms. Improperly managed stormwater can cause erosion, flooding, property 

damage, and habitat disruption. Flooding and damage from stormwater also threatens 

public safety and health. The pollution from stormwater adversely affects water quality 

and the ecosystems that absorb the toxic burdens from stormwater runoff. 

25. The expansion of impervious surfaces, as a result of development, vastly increases the 

volume of stormwater runoff during a rain or storm event and leads to flooding when 

downstream systems cannot handle the rapid influx of water.  

26. Downstream flooding, which can cause erosion of public and private lands, as well as 

flood damages to residents, businesses and infrastructure, is costly in terms of response 

cost and repair costs. 

27. Congress enacted the CWA to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity of the Nation‟s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).   The CWA establishes 

an “interim goal of water quality which provides for the protection and propagation of 

fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the water….” 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1251(a)(2). 



28. In 1987, Congress amended the CWA to add Section 402(p), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), to 

require EPA to implement a comprehensive approach to address stormwater discharges. 

29. CWA Section 402(p)(6) required EPA to designate the stormwater discharges to be 

regulated and to establish a comprehensive regulatory program. 

30. In 1990, EPA promulgated its Phase I regulations that required operators of large- and 

medium-sized municipal stormwater systems, those generally serving populations of 

100,000 or more, to obtain National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) 

permits.  See 40 CFR § 122.26(a)(3). 

31. In 1999, pursuant to the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), EPA issued its Phase II regulations 

for stormwater runoff for smaller municipal stormwater systems located in urbanized 

areas. See 40 CFR § 122.32(a)(1). 

32.  Under EPA‟s Phase II regulations, municipal stormwater systems, such as those of 

Hamilton Township (Mercer County) in New Jersey, must receive a General Permit and 

implement stormwater management programs. See 40 CFR § 122.34.  

33. Under the CWA, the EPA Administrator is authorized to approve a State‟s water 

pollution permitting programs if the State, among other requirements, has the authority to 

ensure compliance with the permits it issues, as well as to inspect and monitor 

compliance.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b). 

34. State programs must have “inspection and surveillance procedures to determine, 

independent of information supplied by regulated persons, compliance or noncompliance 

with applicable program requirements.”  See 40 CFR § 123.26.  

35. Although a state, having been granted permitting authority, is the primary issuer of 

NPDES permits, EPA retains oversight authority over state permitting. The EPA 



Administrator has authority to withdraw EPA approval of a state program that fails to 

inspect or monitor activities subject to regulation. See 40 CFR § 123.63. 

36. When the EPA Administrator becomes aware of widespread problems in the enforcement 

of a state‟s NPDES permit program, she has a mandatory duty to make a finding on such 

widespread problems. Thereafter, if the EPA Administrator finds widespread problems 

exist, she has a mandatory duty to issue a compliance order to notify the State of her 

findings. This notification initiates a process by which the public is informed that, if the 

State does not bring its program into compliance with CWA standards, the Administrator 

will enforce permit requirements. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(2). 

37. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(2) states “Whenever on the basis of any information available to 

him, the Administrator finds that violations of permit conditions or limitations as set forth 

in paragraph (1) of this subsection are so widespread that such violations appear to result 

from a failure of the State to enforce such permit conditions or limitations effectively, he 

shall so notify the State. If the Administrator finds such failure extends beyond the 

thirtieth day after such notice, he shall give public notice of such finding. During the 

period beginning with such notice and ending when such State satisfies the Administrator 

that it will enforce such conditions and limitations… the Administrator shall enforce any 

permit condition with respect to any person--  (A) by issuing an order to comply with 

such condition or limitation, or (B) by bringing a civil action under subsection (b) of this 

section.” 

38. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b) and 40 CFR § 123.21, EPA, while maintaining oversight 

authority, has authorized New Jersey to administer its water pollution permitting 

program, including the issuance and oversight of municipal stormwater permits, to ensure 



compliance with the CWA. The New Jersey state agency responsible for administering 

the water pollution permitting program is the New Jersey Department of Environmental 

Protection.  

39. In 2004, DEP promulgated New Jersey‟s stormwater management regulations, N.J.A.C. § 

7:8-1.1 et seq., which establish specific mandatory standards to control stormwater 

resulting from development and redevelopment. Under N.J.S.A. § 7:8-5.3, those 

standards include implementing and incorporating nonstructural stormwater management 

strategies into a site design.  

40. In 2004, DEP established the Municipal Stormwater General Permit program to ensure 

that municipalities comply with the Stormwater Management Rules, N.J.A.C. § 7:8-1.1 et 

seq., and follow Stormwater Best Management Practices (“BMPs”). Stormwater BMPs 

include certain measures to change both the quantity and quality of stormwater runoff to 

achieve compliance with the Stormwater Management Rules. Generally, Stormwater 

BMPs are designed to reduce stormwater volume, peak flows, and/or nonpoint source 

pollution through evapotranspiration, infiltration, detention, and filtration or biological 

and chemical actions. Stormwater BMPs can be classified as structural, such as devices 

installed or constructed on a site, or non-structural, like modified landscaping practices.  

41. Under the Municipal Stormwater General Permit program, municipalities, rather than the 

DEP, are required to review development projects to determine whether they meet all the 

Stormwater Management Rules that specify mandatory standards to control stormwater 

from development and re-development. DEP will only review a project if it involves 

another DEP program, such as the Coastal Area Facility Review Act or the Freshwater 

Wetlands Protection Act. 



42. Under the DEP Municipal Stormwater General Permit Program, each municipality is 

required to submit an annual report and certification to DEP that outlines the 

municipality‟s compliance with its permit.  The annual report is supposed to include any 

incidences of noncompliance and steps that have been taken to remedy them. 40 C.F.R. § 

122.34; Tier A Municipal Stormwater General Permit, NJPDES Permit No. NJ0141852, 

p. 18 section H(3). 

43. While the DEP relies on a municipality‟s Annual Reports and Certifications, it has the 

authority to conduct thorough reviews and audits of the municipality‟s compliance with 

the Stormwater Rules. See N.J.A.C. 7:14A-2.11(e). 

44. EPA has ultimate responsibility under the CWA to ensure that DEP complies with the 

requirements of its Municipal Stormwater General Permit program and that all New 

Jersey municipalities comply with their Municipal Stormwater General Permits.  

V. FACTS 

45. In May 2010, DRN released a report (“DRN Report”) based on the analysis of four expert 

hydrology and engineering consultants examining how Hamilton Township (Mercer 

County), a typical Tier 1 General Permit municipality, was implementing its stormwater 

management program with regard to development approvals. See the DRN Report at: 

http://www.delawareriverkeeper.org/resources/Reports/Hamilton_Twp_NJ_SWM_Imple

mentation_Report.pdf 

46. The DRN Report determined that, for 12 projects reviewed for the period 2004 through 

2009, overall compliance with the Stormwater Management Rules was 42% (based on a 

100-point scale), with an average compliance of only 13% for nonstructural stormwater 

strategies, as required in N.J.A.C. § 7:8-5.3.  



47. In one particular instance, the Township approved a project that did not include any 

provision for nonstructural stormwater management. Repeatedly, in its Resolutions of 

Memorialization for project approvals, the Township of Hamilton Land Use Board stated 

that the “applicant shall comply with all requirements of the Stormwater regulations” 

without specifying how those requirements would be met or putting into place any 

mechanisms to ensure compliance. See DRN Report at pp. 15, 25. 

48. On May 26, 2010, DRN provided copies of this Report to DEP, EPA, and Hamilton 

Township, as well as to other agencies and public officials.  

49. Following the release of the DRN Report, Hamilton Township approved at least two 

more additional projects with deficient stormwater management plans. 

50. Since releasing the DRN Report, DRN has identified other New Jersey municipalities, 

including but not limited to Franklin Township, Borough of South Plainfield, and 

Borough of Franklin Lakes, where developers have submitted project proposals that 

failed to properly address stormwater management, and where, in spite of those 

deficiencies, the municipal boards have approved the projects. Like Hamilton Township, 

each of these municipalities has a Municipal Stormwater General Permit issued by DEP. 

51. On July 19, 2010, DRN representatives met with EPA and DEP officials to discuss the 

findings in the DRN Report.   

52. To date, EPA has failed to take any action to correct the widespread, significant 

deficiencies in DEP‟s oversight of its Stormwater General Permit Program identified in 

the DRN Report. 

53. The failure of municipalities in New Jersey to thoroughly assess projects and prevent 

noncompliant stormwater systems from being constructed violates the requirement of 



their Municipal Stormwater General Permits to adopt and implement stormwater 

management plans that operate in accordance with N.J.A.C. § 7:8-4, which also 

incorporates the requirements of N.J.A.C. § 7:8-5. 

54. DEP has failed to identify and correct Hamilton Township‟s violations of the 

requirements of its Municipal Stormwater General Permit, as well as those identified by 

DRN in other New Jersey municipalities. 

55. Upon information and belief, DEP has failed to identify and correct other New Jersey 

municipalities in the Delaware River Watershed and beyond of violations of their 

Municipal Stormwater General Permits. 

56. DEP does not have an effective program to verify the accuracy of information in the 

municipal annual reports.  

57. Through the Stormwater Regulations Program Annual Report and Certification, each 

municipality reports to DEP regarding the municipality‟s compliance with the Program.  

58. DEP has the ability and authority to audit each municipality, but the auditors complete 

this audit through a review of the municipality‟s self-report and interviews of municipal 

employees and without ever materially verifying a report‟s contents by ascertaining 

whether the municipality‟s staff correctly interpreted and upheld the Stormwater 

Management Rules. 

59. DEP synthesizes the results from each municipality‟s Annual Report and Certification 

into a single report to indicate the State‟s overall compliance with the NPDES Program to 

EPA. 

60. DEP released its “Municipal Stormwater Regulation Program 2010 Status Summary 

Report,” which purported to show nearly flawless performance for all of the State‟s 



municipalities, but fails accurately to reflect the actual compliance or lack thereof with 

the Stormwater Management Rules of municipally approved projects in NJ. 

61. DEP staff do not conduct sufficient detailed on-site evaluations such as thorough 

interviews of all or most relevant municipal staff or extensive document review that 

would lead staff to discover the failures of the municipalities to fulfill their stormwater 

management obligations.  

62. DEP has failed to gather the information necessary to form the basis for appropriate 

action to ensure that municipalities revise their processes to bring them into legal 

compliance.  EPA‟s 2007 MS4 Program Evaluation Guidance document for 

municipalities recommends that State agencies such as DEP take these measures to 

ensure that municipalities are complying with their Municipal General Stormwater 

permits. See Section 4 of EPA‟s 2007 MS4 Program Evaluation Guidance, pp. 23-36, 

available online at http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/munic.cfm 

63. DEP has failed to effectively oversee municipalities‟ compliance with their respective 

Municipal Stormwater General Permits and to fulfill its nondiscretionary responsibilities 

under the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

64. Defendants, as the final line of defense to ensure compliance with municipal stormwater 

requirements, have violated the CWA‟s statutory requirements and implementing 

regulations governing stormwater management by failing to ensure that DEP fulfills its 

regulatory responsibilities or to take sufficient action to stop on-going permit violations 

that DEP has failed to remedy. 

65. Defendants have failed to take any action to correct the widespread, significant 

deficiencies in DEP‟s oversight of its Municipal Stormwater General Permit Program. 



66. Defendants have violated and continue to violate Sections 309(a)(2) and 402(p) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 1342(p). 

67. Defendants‟ ongoing violations of the CWA degrade the environment and the water 

quality of the Delaware River and its Watershed and will adversely affect and cause 

injury to the Delaware Riverkeeper, DRN, its members and others. 

68. Defendants‟ violations were avoidable had Defendants been diligent in overseeing 

operations and maintenance of the DEP‟s Stormwater General Permit Program.  

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION 

69. The allegations of the preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein. 

70. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(2), the CWA imposes a mandatory duty on the Administrator 

to make a finding when she or he becomes aware that violations of permit conditions or 

limitations as set forth in 33 U.S.C. §1319(a)(1) are so widespread that such violations 

appear to result from a failure of the State of New Jersey to enforce such permit 

conditions or limitations. As a result of DRN‟s Report and other information reasonably 

available to Defendants, Defendants have become sufficiently aware of such widespread 

violations.  As such, the Administrator had and continues to have a mandatory duty to 

make a requisite finding identifying that the State of New Jersey has failed to enforce the 

relevant permit conditions or limitations.  Defendants have failed and continue to fail to 

fulfill this mandatory duty in that no finding has been made.  

71. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(2), the Administrator also has a mandatory duty to notify the 

State of New Jersey of the results of her/his requisite finding.  Defendants have failed and 

continue to fail to fulfill this mandatory duty in that no such notice has been provided to 

the State of New Jersey. 



72. Defendants‟ failure to ensure that DEP is fulfilling its statutory and regulatory 

responsibilities or to take sufficient action to stop on-going permit violations by Hamilton 

Township and other New Jersey municipalities that DEP has failed to remedy constitutes 

a violation of Sections 309(a)(2) and 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 

1342(p). 

73. On information and belief, the violations committed by Defendants are ongoing or are 

reasonably likely to continue to occur. Any and all additional violations of Sections 

309(a)(2) and 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 1342(p), and the CWA 

that occur after those described in the Notice Letter but before a final decision in this 

action should be considered continuing violations subject to this Complaint. 

74. Without a judgment in Plaintiffs‟ favor and the issuance of an injunction, Defendants are 

likely to continue to violate the CWA to the further injury of Plaintiffs and its members. 

VII. RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court grant the following relief: 

A. Issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated and continue to be in 

violation of Sections 309(a)(2) and 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 

1342(p). 

B. Enjoin the Defendants from violating and continuing to violate Sections 309(a)(2) 

and 402(p) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a)(2) and 1342(p), by ordering EPA to : 

1) Make a requisite finding, based on its own in-depth investigation and information 

submitted to it, as required by 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(2); 



2)  Issue a compliance order that will notify DEP of the widespread problems in its 

administration and enforcement of DEP‟s Municipal Stormwater General Permit 

Program, if EPA affirmatively finds such widespread problems exist; 

3) Direct DEP to immediately implement thorough, comprehensive auditing 

procedures, including on-site interviews of municipal officials, to determine 

whether municipalities are in full compliance with their Municipal General 

Stormwater Permits; 

4) Direct DEP to take prompt enforcement actions against all municipalities that are 

in violation of their General Permits; 

5) Closely oversee and regularly review DEP‟s stormwater management program to 

ensure that it complies with all CWA requirements; and 

6) Take such other and further steps as are necessary to ensure full and 

comprehensive enforcement of the CWA and its implementing regulations for 

stormwater management. 

C. Award Plaintiffs‟ litigation expenses, including costs and reasonable attorneys‟ and 

expert witness fees, as authorized by Section 505(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(d); and 

D. Award such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted this 27th day of July, 2011, 

 

s/ Jane P. Davenport McClintock                      

Jane P. Davenport McClintock, Senior Attorney 

Nicholas B. Patton, Staff Attorney 

Delaware Riverkeeper Network 

925 Canal Street, Suite 3701 

Bristol, PA 19007 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 


